Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically FILED on 1/24/2018 by Celia Wong, Deputy Clerk

CASE #: S246669

No.		
Court of A	ppeal No.	B283606

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY, Respondent to Petition for Review,

vs.

## THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY,

Respondent to Petition for Writ of Mandate.

FIRST AMERICAN WHOLESALE LENDING CORPORATION et al., Real Parties in Interest, Petitioners.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B283606

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a gas company that negligently causes the largest methane leak in United States history, and which forced the neighboring community to evacuate for several months, owe a duty of care to the community's businesses for the economic losses caused by the leak?

#### **REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW**

There are four independently sufficient reasons to grant review.

First, this Court has never addressed the question presented here: whether a company responsible for an environmental disaster has a duty not to negligently inflict economic loss on its neighbors. The Court's past cases on economic loss have addressed only whether there is such a duty when the loss arises from a contract. They do not address economic loss that, like the loss here, is unrelated to a contract.

Second, there is a conflict among the Courts of Appeal (and within the federal courts) on how to apply the factors first listed in *Biakanja v*. *Irving* (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647 (*Biakanja*). These factors are weighed to determine whether the plaintiff can recover economic loss because a "special relationship" exists. Both the Majority Opinion ("Opinion") and the Fifth District, in *Ott v. Alfa-Laval Agri, Inc.* (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 1439, have held that the first *Biakanja* factor is dispositive. But the Third District in *Alereza v. Chicago Title Co.* (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 551, as well as the dissent here, held that the factors should be weighed with no single factor being dispositive. As set forth below, similar split exists in federal decisions that interpret California law.

Third, as both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal recognized, the questions of tort duty raised here are important and likely to recur whenever a human-caused disaster—an oil spill, perhaps, or a fire, or the next gas leak—victimizes this state's residents.

Fourth, the Opinion will create unnecessary uncertainty. In the course of its decision, the Court of Appeal discussed *Adams v. Southern Pac. Transp. Co.* (1975) 50 Cal.App.3d 37, *George A. Hormel & Co. v. Maez* (1979) 92 Cal.App.3d 963, and *Union Oil Co. v. Oppen* (9th Cir. 1974) 501 F.2d 558. That discussion is self-contradictory; what the Court of Appeal said about those cases should have led it to the opposite result in this case. This discussion will sow further confusion in the lower courts and federal courts interpreting California law, and would warrant review by itself.

Accordingly, to both "secure uniformity of decision" and "settle an important question of law," this Court should grant review. (Cal. Rules of Court 8.500(b)(1)).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. The operative complaint

Defendant Southern California Gas Company ("SoCalGas") operates the Aliso Canyon Storage Facility ("Aliso Canyon Facility" or "Facility"), located above Porter Ranch in Los Angeles. (*Southern California Gas Leak Cases* (hereinafter, *Gas Leak*), No. B283606, slip op. at 3 (Cal. Ct. App. Dec. 15, 2017); 2017 WL 6398546, at \*1.)<sup>1</sup>

The operative complaint alleges that, due to SoCalGas's negligence (*Gas Leak*, *supra*, at 4; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*2.), the Facility began uncontrollably leaking large amounts of natural gas (*id.* at 3; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*1.) The escaping natural gas "spread an oily mist over nearby neighborhoods, damaging real and personal property. Residents and individuals who worked in the vicinity of the facility complained about odors and acute respiratory and central nervous system symptoms." (*Ibid.*)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the Opinion are to the attached slip copy. For the Court's convenience, citations to the Opinion as it appears on the electronic Westlaw database are also indicated an included with an asterisk.

In response, Los Angeles County ordered SoCalGas to relocate residents who lived within a five-mile radius of the blowout. (*Gas Leak*, *supra*, at 3; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*1.) The County's Board of Education decided to relocate public school students and staff at two nearby schools for the duration of the school year. (*Ibid.*) As a result of the evacuation of some 15,000 residents, the local economy collapsed. (*Id.* at 4; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*2.)

The Plaintiffs are small businesses located within five miles of the blowout, the same area that was evacuated, and each lost a considerable amount of income due to the blowout and evacuation. (*Gas Leak, supra*, at 4; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*2.) On behalf of a class of about 400 local businesses within the five-mile evacuation radius around the Facility, the Plaintiffs brought causes of action against SoCalGas and its parent company for strict liability, negligence, negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, and violations of the Unfair Competition Law. (*Ibid.*) Plaintiffs seek to recover the economic harm they suffered due to the gas blowout. (*Ibid.*)

# II. SoCalGas demurred, arguing that the economic loss rule barred Plaintiffs' claims.

SoCalGas demurred to Plaintiffs' first three causes of action: strict liability, negligence, and negligent interference with prospective economic advantage. (*Gas Leak, supra*, at 4; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*2.) It argued that the economic loss rule barred those causes of action because it owed no duty to the Plaintiffs. According to SoCalGas, the only way to recover for economic loss is to demonstrate the existence between the plaintiff and defendant of a "special relationship" (*J'Aire Corp. v. Gregory* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 799, 804 (*J'Aire*)) by satisfying the factors first listed in *Biakanja v. Irving* (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647 (*Biakanja*). Among the factors absent from this

case, SoCalGas argued, was the existence of a "transaction" that affected the plaintiff. (*Gas Leak, supra*, at 4-5; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*2.)

### III. The trial court overruled the demurrer.

The Superior Court overruled the demurrer. In an incisive order, it explained why "[t]raditional tort theory supports" the Plaintiffs' claim. (App. 398; *In re Coordination Proceedings Special Title (Rule 3.550)*Southern California Gas Leak CA (Super. Ct. Los Angeles County, 2017, No. JCCP 4861) ("Trial Court Order"); 2017 WL 2361919, at \*3.) Tort law's "goal is to internalize the external costs of accidents. Tort law forces decisionmakers to treat neighbors' costs as their own. Then decisionmakers will invest in precautions at the level they calculate to be correct." (App. 399; Trial Court Order, 2017 WL 2361919, at \*3.) Thus, "standard tort theory mandates that Southern California Gas Company bear all costs its accident caused. This total should include tangible and conventionally measurable economic losses to neighboring businesses." (App. 399; Trial Court Order, 2017 WL 2361919, at \*4.)

But, as the trial court observed, the law was "in a state of some uncertainty." (App. 400; Trial Court Order, 2017 WL 2361919, at \*5.) The "challenge," it stated, was this Court's decision in *J'Aire*, which approved the recovery of economic loss where the defendant and another party had a "contract" that was "intended to affect the plaintiff." (*Ibid*.)

But *J'Aire* also discussed a case in which there was no such contract: *Adams v. Southern Pacific Transp.* (1975) 50 Cal.App.3d 37. In *Adams*, a trainload of military bombs exploded, causing the destruction of the factory that employed the *Adams* plaintiffs. The workers sued Southern Pacific for their lost income due to not being able to work at the destroyed factory. *Adams* held that plaintiffs' suit was barred because they were seeking to recover economic losses.

As the trial court noted, however, *J'Aire* "disapproved" *Adams*. (App. 400; Trial Court Order, 2017 WL 2361919, at \*6, quoting *J'Aire*, *supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 807.) The trial court interpreted *J'Aire*'s disapproval of *Adams* to mean that California law allows recovery for economic loss, even when that loss does not arise from a contract. As the trial court ruled, *Adams*—a negligently caused disaster causing economic loss—was analogous to the facts of this case, where a negligently caused natural gas leak caused economic loss to neighborhood businesses. (See App. 400-01; Trial Court Order, 2017 WL 2361919, at \*6.)

Because of the uncertainty of the law, however, the trial court certified its order for immediate appellate review under Code of Civil Procedure section 166.1, indicating that the order involves "a controlling question of law as to which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion, appellate resolution of which may materially advance the conclusion of the litigation." (Code Civ. Proc. § 166.1.)

# IV. On writ review in a published and divided opinion, the Second District ordered that the demurrer be sustained.

In response to the petition, the Court of Appeal issued an alternative writ. The Superior Court elected not to overrule the demurrer.

### A. The Majority Opinion held that there was no duty.

A majority of the Court of Appeal panel thereafter issued a peremptory writ. As a procedural matter, it deemed writ relief appropriate, due in part to the "legal issue here," which "is significant and of widespread interest." (*Gas Leak, supra,* at 6; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*3.)

On the merits, the Court of Appeal held that that there is no duty to refrain from inflicting economic loss. (See *Gas Leak*, *supra*, at 20; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*9 [identifying a "general rule that precludes business plaintiffs from recovering for pure economic losses under a negligence theory"].) According to the Court of Appeal, this blanket "no-duty" rule has

only one exception: where the plaintiff's economic loss arises out of a contractual transaction between the defendant and another person, courts may recognize that the defendant has a "special relationship" with the plaintiff. (*Gas Leak*, *supra*, at 14; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*6 [citing *J'Aire*].) It is only a special relationship that can give rise to a duty not to inflict economic loss. But, because a special relationship requires a contract between the defendant and another person, and such a contract was absent here, all Plaintiffs were barred from recovering economic loss.

# B. The Dissent argued that a duty may be owed, and that writ relief was not appropriate.

Justice Baker dissented, stating that "it was a mistake for us to have intervened at this early stage of the case, and that mistake may well have significant consequences on the merits." (*Gas Leak, supra,* (dis. opn. of Baker, J.) at 1; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*9.) A "more developed record" was "important to arrive at an appropriate disposition of this case." (*Id.* at 2 (dis. opn. of Baker, J.); 2017 WL 6398546, at \*10.)

On the merits, it was "quite possible" that some businesses "in a five-mile radius" from the Facility "are situated such that Southern California Gas Company owed them a duty of care." (*Gas Leak, supra,* (dis. opn. of Baker, J.) at 2; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*10.) This was because "some businesses in the immediate geographic area of the gas leak could have a special dependence on that area such that harm to them would be foreseeable to Southern California Gas Company." (*Ibid.*)

Justice Baker believed that litigation in the trial court should proceed to allow the Plaintiffs to prove that kind of special dependence. "Because the majority's opinion resolves the business plaintiffs' litigation on the demurrer record, however, it has no ability to approach the question of duty

with a scalpel, and unfortunately resolves it instead with a meat axe." (*Gas Leak, supra,* (dis. opn. of Baker, J.) at 3; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*10.)

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. This Court has not yet addressed whether a company responsible for an environmental disaster has a duty not to negligently inflict economic loss on its neighbors.

This Court has never directly addressed the question that the Opinion answered: whether there is a duty of care not to inflict economic loss when the loss arises from an environmental disaster rather than from a contract. While the Court has addressed economic loss when it has arisen from a contract, here, neither SoCalGas's negligence nor the Plaintiffs' resulting losses arose from a contract. This Court has not yet answered whether, in those noncontractual circumstances, SoCalGas owed a duty not to negligently inflict economic loss on the Plaintiffs. This case presents the Court with an opportunity to address that important question.

In cases involving personal injury or property damage, this Court has repeatedly held that Californians owe each other a duty of ordinary care under Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (a).<sup>3</sup> (See, e.g., *Kesner v. Superior Court* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1132, 1142 (*Kesner*).) Hence, a situation in which one person owes no duty of care to another is typically the exception, not the rule. (See *id.* at p. 1143 [courts should exercise caution when "establishing an exception to the general rule of Civil Code section 1714," quotation marks and citation omitted].)

Even in *J'Aire*, a case about economic loss, this Court suggested that the general duty of care in Civil Code section 1714(a) applies to economic

1496302.5

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Because the Court of Appeal reached the wrong legal conclusion but correctly stated the facts and issues, Plaintiffs declined to file a petition for rehearing. (See Cal. Rules of Court 8.500(c)(2), 8.504(b)(3).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Hereafter "Civil Code section 1714(a)." The statute reads in pertinent part: "Everyone is responsible . . . for an injury occasioned to another by his or her want of ordinary care or skill in the management of his or her property or person . . . ." (Civ. Code § 1714(a).)

loss just as much as to other injuries. Indeed, *J'Aire* observed that the language of Civil Code section 1714(a) "does not distinguish among injuries to one's person, one's property, or one's financial interests." (*J'Aire*, *supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 806.) Hence, section 1714's general duty applies not only to "injury to one's person or property," but also to "[d]amages for loss of profits or earnings." (*Ibid.*)

For its contrary conclusion, the Court of Appeal relied on a line of cases beginning with *Biakanja*, continuing through *J'Aire*, *Bily v. Arthur Young & Co.* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 370 (*Bily*), *Quelimane Co. v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co.* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26 (*Quelimane*), and including a recent case, *Centinela Freeman Emergency Medical Associates v. Health Net of California, Inc.* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 994, 1013 (*Centinela*).

All of these cases, however, arose from one or more contracts. A brief perusal of the facts of these cases illustrates this.

*Biakanja* arose from the negligent performance of a contract to draft a will, where this Court held the defendant owed the intended beneficiary a duty.

*J'Aire* arose from the builder's negligently delayed performance of its contract with the County. This negligence caused economic loss to the restaurant tenant, who, the Court held, was owed a duty of care.

Bily arose from the contractual relationship between an auditor and its client, a company making an initial public offering. (Bily, 3 Cal.4th at p. 376.) Investors in the company sued the auditor for negligence. Just as in Biakanja and J'Aire, the plaintiffs in Bily were suing the defendant for the negligent performance of a contract for services between the defendant and someone else. In Bily, the Court cited concerns of public policy to hold that the auditor did not have a special relationship with—and thus owed no duty of professional care to—the investors.

Quelimane arose from multiple contractual relationships. There, plaintiffs purchased properties by tax deed and then attempted to resell the properties to someone else. The plaintiffs sued the defendant title insurance companies when they declined to issue insurance and hence prevented the resale of the properties. Plaintiffs' losses thus arose from defendants' contractual decision not to issue title insurance, as well as from plaintiffs' own contracts—their decision to buy the properties and assume the risk that "would-be purchasers could not obtain title insurance." (Quelimane, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 58.) In those circumstances, this Court held that defendants had no special relationship with the plaintiffs and thus no duty of care.

Although the Court of Appeal relied on *Quelimane*'s statement that a duty "to prevent purely economic loss to third parties . . . is the exception, not the rule in negligence law" (*Quelimane*, *supra*, at p. 58, 19 Cal. 4th quoted by *Gas Leak*, *supra*, at 7; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*3), this statement is explicitly limited to the contractual context. *Quelimane* states that a duty of ordinary care is "the exception, not the rule" when it comes "to third parties"—i.e., when a contract between the defendant and another person causes economic loss to the plaintiff, a third party. (*Quelimane*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 58, italics added.) *Quelimane* does not hold that there is no duty of ordinary care in a *noncontractual* case involving economic loss.

Finally, in *Centinela*, health plans had contractually delegated to independent practice associations (IPAs) their obligation to reimburse service providers. The health plans had acted negligently because they knew or should have known that the IPAs would not be able to pay the providers. The loss arose from the IPAs' contract with the health plans. *Centinela* held that the plans had a special relationship with the service providers, and hence owed them a duty of care.

All of these "special relationship" cases, from *Biakanja* to *Centinela*, examine the existence of a duty where only economic loss was sought—but

they all do so in the context of at least one, and sometimes multiple, contractual relationships.

As such, this Court has not yet addressed whether a duty is owed where the economic loss does not arise from a contractual relationship.

Moreover, there is good reason to think that the economic loss rule<sup>4</sup> should *not* apply where losses do not arise from contract. The economic loss rule, as this Court explained in *Robinson Helicopter Co. v. Dana Corp.* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 979, "prevent[s] the law of contract and the law of tort from dissolving one into the other." (*Id.* at p. 988, quotation marks and citation omitted.) Thus, a purchaser cannot sue in tort just because a product has defeated his or her economic expectations—for those expectations "are protected by commercial and contract law," not tort law. (*Ibid.*, quotation marks and citation omitted.) Here, however, the Court of Appeal blurred the line between contract and tort by *requiring* a contract before a plaintiff may recover for economic loss in tort. (*Gas Leak, supra*, at 14; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*6.) If anything, tort liability would seem *less* appropriate where a contract between two other persons is intended to directly affect the plaintiff, because in that circumstance the plaintiff is far more likely to be able to enforce the contract as a third-party beneficiary.

The Opinion should not be the last word on this open question of California law. Review is warranted.

II. Courts analyzing the six *Biakanja* factors are split on how the factors are weighed, with some courts weighing them collectively and other courts treating the first factor as dispositive.

Review is also needed to resolve a conflict in the lower courts on the application of the special relationship test.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeal asserted it was applying something *other* than the economic loss rule. (See *Gas Leak*, 2017 WL 6398546, at \*6.) When Plaintiffs use the term "economic loss rule" here, however, they simply mean any rule that bars the recovery of economic losses in tort.

*Biakanja* and the special relationship cases that follow it list six factors<sup>5</sup> that help determine whether a special relationship exists. The first factor, as *Biakanja* originally expressed it, is "the extent to which the transaction was intended to affect the plaintiff." (*Biakanja*, *supra*, 49 Cal.2d at p. 650.) The Courts of Appeal are split regarding whether the first factor is dispositive.

# A. Some Courts of Appeal are split on whether a transaction is necessary to establish a special relationship.

Here, the Opinion focused exclusively on the first *Biakanja* factor. It interpreted that factor to be a "prerequisite" to a special relationship rather than just one factor to be weighed among six factors. (*Gas Leak, supra*, at 14; 2017 WL 6398546, at \*6.)

The Fifth Appellate District has likewise endorsed the rule that the first factor is foundational. In *Ott v. Alfa-Laval Agri, Inc.* (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 1439, the Fifth District specifically found that the first factor was a "foundation," and the plaintiff's failure to satisfy it "preclude[d] a finding of a special relationship." (*Id.* at p. 1455-1456.)

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