Case No. S246669

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY, A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION,

Respondent to Petition for Review,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent to Petition for Writ of Mandate.

FIRST AMERICAN WHOLESALE LENDING CORPORATION et al.,

Real Parties in Interest, Petitioners.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B283606

The Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Judicial Council Coordination Proceeding No. 4861, The Hon. John Shepard Wiley, Jr., Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

This Court has long made clear that the economic loss doctrine applies generally to all cases involving claims for negligence and strict liability, because "[r]ecognition of a duty to manage business affairs so as to prevent purely economic loss to third parties in their financial transactions is the exception, not the rule, in negligence law." (*Quelimane, supra,* 19 Cal.4th at 58.) Thus, it is well established that a complaint in a strict liability or negligence action alleging purely economic losses should be dismissed on demurrer, because "[u]ntil physical injury occurs—until damage rises above the level of mere economic loss—a plaintiff cannot state a cause of action for strict liability or negligence." (*San Francisco Unified School Dist. v. W. R. Grace & Co.* (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1318, 1327, 1329-30.) "The necessity that a plaintiff present proof of the

existence of damages other than purely economic loss arises from the fact that, rather than being a *defense* to a tort claim, the economic loss rule provides that entities generally have no *duty* to prevent purely economic loss to a potential plaintiff." (*Greystone Homes, Inc. v. Midtec, Inc.* (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 1194, 1215, italics in original, citation omitted.)

Moreover, consistent with this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeal found that "hold[ing] SoCalGas accountable to business plaintiffs for 'all the costs its accident caused' would 'promote virtually unlimited responsibility." (Op. at 20, citing *Bily, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at 398.) In doing so, it relied on this Court's oft-cited illustration of the economic loss doctrine:

One frequently used illustration of the need to limit liability for economic loss assumes a defendant negligently causes an automobile accident that blocks a major traffic artery such as a bridge or tunnel. Although defendant would be liable for personal injuries and property damage suffered in such an accident, it is doubtful any court would allow recovery by the myriad of third parties who might claim economic losses because the bridge or tunnel was impassible.

(Op. at 12-13, quoting *Bily, supra,* 3 Cal.4th at 400, fn. 11.) Like the "myriad of third parties" in the illustration, the Business Plaintiffs claim economic losses due to a general decline in business from the gas leak, and the same result follows. Indeed, even Justice Baker, who would have preferred not to address issues at the demurrer stage, agreed that the Superior Court's broad exception for all mass-tort claims was

fundamentally inconsistent with this Court's decisions applying the economic loss doctrine. (Op. (dis. opn. of Baker, J.) at 1.)²

The Court of Appeal also correctly held that no special relationship existed between the parties that would impose on SoCalGas a duty to protect against third parties' economic losses. The Business Plaintiffs explicitly disavowed any underlying transaction that could form the basis for such a special relationship. (Op. at 13-14, 20.)

3. The economic loss doctrine is not limited to cases involving contractual relationships.

The Business Plaintiffs' assertions that the economic loss doctrine does not apply to mass tort actions where the alleged negligence affects numerous plaintiffs or applies only to cases involving losses in connection with a contract are demonstrably wrong and provide no basis to grant review.

First, as the Court of Appeal explained, the economic loss doctrine applies generally to all negligence and strict liability actions, whether the alleged harms resulting from the defendant's conduct affect many plaintiffs or few. And the doctrine has been applied in cases that have nothing to do with injuries arising out of a contract. One example is this Court's decision

- 17 -

-

² The Opinion is also consistent with the application of the economic loss doctrine in other "disaster" cases across the nation. (See, e.g., *Louisiana ex rel. Guste v. M/V Testbank* (5th Cir. 1985) 752 F.2d 1019 [collecting cases and discussing policy rationales for economic loss doctrine in context of rejecting economic loss claims by local businesses seeking lost revenue caused by chemical spill in an adjacent waterway].)

in Fifield Manor v. Finston (1960) 54 Cal.2d 632, 634, where, as here, the plaintiff's injury did not arise from any contract with the defendant or the defendant's performance of a contract with anyone else. The plaintiff had entered into a contract with an individual to provide "life-care" medical services. The individual subsequently was injured in a car accident with the defendant. The plaintiff provided medical care as required by the contract but the individual died. The plaintiff sued the defendant for negligence, seeking to recover the economic losses it incurred providing the increased amounts of medical care necessary under the "life-care" contract as a result of the accident. This Court observed that "courts have quite consistently refused to recognize a cause of action based on negligent, as opposed to intentional, conduct which interferes with the performance of a contract between third parties," and held that the plaintiff could not recover its economic losses. (*Id.* at 636.)

Another example is *County of Santa Clara v. Atlantic Richfield Co.* (2006) 137 Cal.App.4th 292, 318, where government entities sued lead manufacturers for economic losses incurred to remove lead paint from the plaintiffs' buildings. The plaintiffs had no contract with the lead manufacturers, nor was any part of their complaint predicated on the defendants' performance of a contract with another party. The Court of Appeal held that the economic loss doctrine applied because the paint had caused no personal or property injury. "One thing is clear: economic loss

alone, without physical injury, does not amount to the type of damage that will cause a negligence or strict liability cause of action to accrue. 'In a strict liability or negligence case, the *compensable injury* must be *physical harm to persons or property*, not mere economic loss.'" (*Ibid.*, quoting *Zamora, supra*, 55 Cal.App.4th at 210, italics in original.)

Second, the Business Plaintiffs' attempt to limit the economic loss doctrine to cases involving injuries that arise from a defendant's contract ignores that the underlying premise of the rule is to limit defendants' duties in negligence and strict liability: "An actor has no general duty to avoid the unintentional infliction of economic loss on another." (Rest. 3d of Torts: Liab. for Econ. Harm § 1 TD No 1 (2012).) As the Opinion reiterates, this duty concept applies in all negligence cases regardless of the particular context, because "[c]ourts . . . invoke[] the concept of duty to limit generally 'the otherwise potentially infinite liability which would follow from every negligent act " (Bily, supra, 3 Cal.4th at 397, quoting Thompson v. County of Alameda (1980) 27 Cal.3d 741, 750.) "The conclusion that a defendant did not have a duty constitutes a determination by the court that public policy concerns outweigh, for a particular category of cases, the broad principle enacted by the Legislature that one's failure to exercise ordinary care incurs liability for all the harms that result." (Kesner v. Superior Court (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1132, 1143.) And as this Court declared in Aas v. Superior Court (2000) 24 Cal.4th 627 (Aas), the economic loss

doctrine is a "general principle" that applies to all actions for negligence to bar recovery "for economic loss alone." (*Aas*, 24 Cal.4th at 636, superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in *McMillin Albany LLC v*. *Superior Court* (2018) ____ Cal.5th ____ [227 Cal.Rptr.3d 191, 193].)

Third, the Business Plaintiffs' argument confuses the economic loss doctrine with its narrow special relationship *exception*, thereby turning the rule on its head. As this Court has made clear, "[r]ecognition of a duty to manage business affairs so as to prevent purely economic loss to third parties in their financial transactions *is the exception, not the rule*, in negligence law." (*Quelimane, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at 58, italics added.)

Plaintiffs note that "[a]ll of these 'special relationship' cases, from *Biakanja* to *Centinela*, examine the existence of a duty where only economic loss was sought—but they all do so in the context of at least one, and sometimes multiple, contractual relationships." (Pet. at 15-16.) But it is unsurprising that cases applying the narrow special relationship exception all involved contractual relationships, since the existence of such a transaction is precisely what gives rise to the potential for a special relationship in the first place. (See *J'Aire*, *supra*, 24 Cal.3d at 804 [applying special relationship factors to claim of "negligent performance of a contract"].)

Accordingly, the Court of Appeal followed this Court's decisions when it stated that "a third party's purely economic loss arising from a

transaction is a prerequisite for recovery in tort, absent injury to person or property" and that the "failure to establish this foundation precludes a finding of the 'special relationship' required by *J'Aire* and subsequent Supreme Court decisions." (Op. at 14.) The Business Plaintiffs' argument would cause the exception to swallow the rule.

B. There Is No Conflict or Confusion in the Lower Courts Warranting this Court's Review

The Business Plaintiffs argue that review is necessary to "resolve a conflict in the lower courts on the application of the special relationship test." (Pet. at 16.) They are mistaken. There is no conflict.

The Business Plaintiffs argue that there is conflicting authority as to whether the first *Biakanja* factor—the extent to which the transaction was intended to affect the plaintiff—is "dispositive." But the Business Plaintiffs plainly misread the precedent they cite.

As an initial matter, there is *no* California decision recognizing the existence of a special relationship in the absence of any contract or transaction giving rise to plaintiffs' economic losses, which is what the Business Plaintiffs seek here. By asking "the *extent* to which the transaction was intended to affect the plaintiff" (*Biakanja, supra*, 49 Cal.2d at 650, italics added), the first *Biakanja* factor (along with all the others) *presupposes* that some contract or transaction giving rise to the plaintiff's losses exists. Here, as the Court of Appeal found, Plaintiffs concede that no

such contract or transaction exists. (Op. at 20.) Thus, as the Opinion reflects, Plaintiffs are not seeking a weighing of the *Biakanja* factors, but a wholesale rejection of the very premise of the economic loss doctrine, namely that defendants to negligence and strict liability claims have no duty to avoid purely economic losses of third parties.

The Court of Appeal correctly held that "a third party's purely economic loss arising from a transaction is a prerequisite for recovery in tort, absent injury to person or property." (Op. at 14, italics added.) All California courts agree that the *Biakanja* factors are only applied when "(1) the defendant was acting pursuant to a contract, and (2) the defendant's negligent performance of the contract injures a third party." (Stop Loss Ins. Brokers, Inc. v. Brown & Toland Medical Group (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 1036, 1042; see also *Biakanja*, supra, 49 Cal.2d at 650 [considering whether defendant had a duty to protect plaintiff from economic injury "even though they were not in privity" to the contract at issue; "The determination whether in a specific case the defendant will be held liable to a third person *not in privity* is a matter of policy and involves the balancing of various factors," italics added].) Plaintiffs cite no authority to the contrary, and none exists.

The Opinion also correctly noted that, in balancing the *Biakanja* factors, "[n]o appellate authority addressing negligent liability for purely economic loss to third parties has found the existence of a duty of care in

the absence of the first factor." (Op. at 13.)

Moreover, Plaintiffs' asserted conflict concerning how lower courts weigh each of the Biakanja factors is based on a misreading of precedent. The court in *Ott* endorsed "the full six-part test in determining the presence or absence of a duty of care." (Ott, supra, 31 Cal.App.4th at 1454, 1455 ["We must consider the applicability of all six J'Aire factors as we measure the allegations of the complaint."].) Applying that test, the court found that the relevant transaction (the design and sale of a milking system) "was [not] 'intended to affect' the plaintiffs in any way particular to the plaintiffs." (Id. at 1455.) Because there was no intent to affect the plaintiffs in a special way, the transaction could not be the "foundation" for a special relationship between the parties. (*Id.* at 1455-56.) The court then considered the second factor and held that "injury to plaintiffs was not reasonably foreseeable." (Id. at 1456.) Having determined that the first and second factors weighed strongly against finding a special relationship, the court concluded that it "need not consider the remaining Biakanja factors" because "[e]ven if all four weighed in favor of finding a duty of care, we would still conclude that no duty existed." (*Ibid.*)

Similarly, as the Business Plaintiffs note, *Alereza v. Chicago Title Co.* (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 551 (*Alereza*) applied the six *Biakanja* factors because it also involved a contractual relationship, which could establish a special relationship. (Pet. at 17.) The *Alereza* court considered the first

Biakanja factor, "the extent to which the transaction was intended to affect the plaintiff," and determined that "[a]t most, the benefit to Alereza was a collateral benefit." (Alereza, supra, 6 Cal.App.5th at 558, 560, italics added.) After considering the remaining factors, Alereza held "that the defendant owed no duty to the plaintiff." (Pet. at 18, citing Alereza, supra, 6 Cal.App.5th at 560-62, italics added.)

Thus, the Business Plaintiffs' citations to *Ott* and *Alereza* show no conflict among appellate courts. Both cases noted the applicability of all six factors and ultimately determined that no duty existed. These cases are fully consistent with the Opinion here.

Similarly, the Business Plaintiffs' citation to Justice Baker's separate opinion provides no basis for review. Contrary to their assertion, Justice Baker did not "recognize[] that the absence of a transaction [is] not dispositive." (Pet. at 18.) Rather, he agreed that the broad exception for mass tort claims adopted by the Superior Court was contrary to settled law. Nevertheless, he expressed concern about appellate intervention at the demurrer stage because it is "possible that some—but certainly not all—of the businesses" could have established that they met the special relationship test had there been a "more developed record." (Op. (dis. opn. of Baker, J.) at 2.) He did not elaborate on what facts would prove sufficient in his view. Importantly, the Business Plaintiffs disclaimed any desire to differentiate different plaintiffs via amended pleadings, effectively

declining Justice Baker's suggestion that different plaintiffs might be differently situated. Insofar as Justice Baker implies that a relationship sufficient to remove some Business Plaintiffs from the economic loss doctrine may be established purely based on the "foreseeability" of the injury (see *ibid.*), that view conflicts with this Court's clear precedent. (*Bily, supra,* 3 Cal.4th at 399 ["[W]e will not treat the mere presence of a foreseeable risk of injury to third persons as sufficient, standing alone, to impose liability for negligent conduct."].)

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

As the Court of Appeal rightly concluded, the proper resolution of the issue presented in this proceeding involves a straightforward application of well-established precedent. The Business Plaintiffs' Petition for Review makes clear that they can point to no decision of this Court or any Court of Appeal recognizing a special relationship in the absence of a contract or transaction giving rise to the plaintiffs' economic losses. The Court of Appeal's rejection of their arguments thus broke no new ground and faithfully applied settled precedent. The Court should deny review.

Dated: February 13, 2018 MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP

By /s/ David L. Schrader

James J. Dragna David L. Schrader Yardena R. Zwang-Weissman

Attorneys for Petitioner Southern California Gas Company